$FILED_{\text{SID J. WHITE}}$

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 6 1992

DERRICK TYRONE SMITH,

CLERK, SHPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

Appellant,

Case No. 76,491

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs.

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 24, 1983, the Pinellas County Grand Jury indicted the Appellant, DERRICK TYRONE SMITH, for the first-degree murder of Jeffrey Songer on March 21, 1983, in violation of section 782.04-(1)(a), Florida Statutes. $(R1,2)^1$

Appellant was convicted of this offense and sentenced to death on November 29, 1983. (R5-8) On July 17, 1986, this Court reversed the conviction and remanded for a new trial because the trial court erred by admitting evidence of Appellant's statement to the police obtained in violation of his right to counsel. (R11-18)

Appellant was again tried by jury before the Honorable Claire K. Luten, Circuit Judge, on May 8-12, 1990. (R375, 1278) The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. (R131) The penalty phase of the trial was conducted on May 16, 1990. (R1382) The jury recommended death by a vote of 8 to 4. (R160)

On July 13, 1990, the court adjudicated Appellant guilty of first-degree murder and sentenced him to death. (R226-235) Appellant filed his notice of appeal on August 1, 1990. (R236) The court appointed the public defender to represent Appellant on this appeal. (R237)

References to the record on appeal are designated by "R" and the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The State's Case

At 12:28 a.m. on March 21, 1983, Yellow Cab dispatcher Milton Brech sent cab driver Jeff Songer to pick up a fare at the Hogley Wogley barbecue restaurant on the 900 block of 9th Street South in St. Petersburg. (R697-702) Songer called in to report that they were going to Fairfield and 31st. (R702) A few minutes later Songer sent a distress call, "D-16." Brech called the police and sent another cab driver, Charles Montgomery, to find Songer. (R703,708)

Montgomery found Songer's cab parked in the 3100 block of Fairfield South in St. Petersburg. The headlights were on, the door was open, and the engine was running. (R708-710) Montgomery found Songer lying face down, 68 feet from the cab, and called the dispatcher to send paramedics. (R711) Montgomery identified Songer for the police and the medical examiner. (R712) At trial he identified photographs of Songer. (R711-712) Montgomery did not see anyone else in the area. (R713)

St. Petersburg police officers were dispatched to the crime scene. They obtained and identified photographs of the scene, the cab, Songer's body, Hogley Wogley Bar-B-Que, and the telephone there. (R750-767,794-798,834-845) Upon examining the body, the officers found a wallet containing Songer's identification and \$5.00, and a money pouch containing \$145.62. (R754-755,767-768,801-802) Four or five latent fingerprints were found inside the cab.

(R772-773) Latent fingerprints were also found on the phone at the Hogley Wogley. (R834-845)

Officer Jakeway attended the autopsy and obtained more photographs, Songer's fingerprints, and Songer's sweater and T-shirt. (R773-774,780-781) He also collected a small lead fragment found on Songer's shoulder. (R775-778)

The medical examiner, Dr. Joan Wood, examined the body at the crime scene and later performed an autopsy. (R944-949) She determined that the cause of death was a single gunshot which entered Songer's back, damaged both lungs and the aorta, and exited from his chest. (R950-952) She identified Songer's shirt, sweater, and photos of the body. (R947-951)

The State presented the prior testimony of Appellant's deceased uncle, Roy Cone. (R884,887-888) Cone and his wife raised Appellant and his four brothers and sisters after their mother died. Appellant lived with them from the age of eleven to eighteen. (R888-889) Cone last saw Appellant in February, 1983, when he came to visit. (R890) Cone had owned a blue steel .38 Smith and Wesson handgun with a brown handle. He kept the gun under his mattress and had never shown it to anyone except his wife. He had last seen the gun when he fired it on New Year's Eve. He identified a receipt for the purchase of the gun and the box of bullets he kept for the gun. (R891-894,1228-1232) Detective San Marco obtained the box of .38 bullets from Cone and sent two of the bullets to the FBI. (R799-801)

Carolyn Mathis testified that Appellant tried to sell a gun to her and her boyfriend Frank Bellamy for \$50 in March, 1983. They refused to buy the gun. (R913-914) Mathis and her sister Regina saw Appellant later that night, around 10:30 or 11:00, at the Cozy Corner Bar with a tall, bright-skinned man. Appellant and his companion walked away towards 9th Street. (R915-916) The gun was shiny, dark silver, with a dark brown handle. (R916-917)

Regina Mathis testified that she saw Appellant at the 12th Street Bar in St. Petersburg on a Saturday night in March, 1983. (R918-919) She saw him again on Sunday at her mother's house and at her sister Carolyn's house. Appellant showed her some bullets, but no gun. She did not hear him offer to sell a gun to her sister. (R919-920) Around 11:00 or 11:30 that night she saw Appellant at the Cozy Corner with a tall, bright-skinned man. She asked whether he had any money. He said no, but he was going to hustle some money. (R9321) She did not know what he meant. (R922-923) Appellant did not say anything about a gun or show her a gun. (R923) Appellant and his companion left the bar together. (R922)

Priscilla Walker testified that she lived with James Matthews in St. Petersburg. On March 20, 1983, Appellant came to the house between 8:00 and 9:00 p.m. to change clothes and eat. Appellant's street name was Rerun. (R1017-1019) Matthews showed her a gun while Appellant was there. (R1018) Appellant left the house, then Matthews left awhile later. (R1019) Appellant returned for his clothes between midnight and 1:00 a.m. (R1019-1020) He said he shot a cab driver in the back because he didn't want to give up the

money. Appellant said he dropped the gun at the scene. (R1020-1021)

James Matthews also testified that Appellant's street name was Rerun. (R1025-1026) In March, 1983, Appellant came to his house around 9:00 and showed him a gun which he showed to Walker. (R1027) Appellant said he was going to get some money. Matthews left the house after Appellant departed. (R1028) When Matthews returned between 12:00 and 2:00, Appellant was talking to Walker in the doorway. He said he might have shot someone, he was scared, and he needed a place to stay. (R1029-1031)

Ernest Rouse was a part-time disc jockey at the Name of the Game Lounge in 1983. Derrick Johnson also worked there. (R895-896) Rouse met Appellant at the lounge on a Sunday night in March, 1983, when he came in with Johnson around 7:30 or 8:00. (R896-897) Appellant put a blue-black revolver with a brown handle under the turntables. (R897) When Appellant recovered the gun, he put it in his coat pocket or his pants. (R899) Appellant and Johnson left the lounge together. (R897) Johnson returned around 12:30 or 1:00. Dennis Peterson gave Rouse and Johnson a ride when they left around 1:30. (R898-899)

David McGruder testified that he was a cook at Hogley Wogley at 1035 9th Street South in St. Petersburg. (R855-856) Around midnight on March 21, 1983, he saw two men in front of the restaurant. One was short and dark, and the other was tall and light-skinned. The short man came inside and asked for change for a \$20 bill. The man went out, then he returned and used a wall

phone to make a call. (R857-859) The man went out again, then returned to make a second call. Two or three minutes later a Yellow Cab arrived. The short man got in back. The tall man got in front. The cab drove away. (R860) In his prior testimony, Mr. McGruder said the short man made three calls. (R868-869) McGruder identified photos of Hogley Wogley and the telephone. (R860-861) The police were there when he went to work at 10:00 the next morning. (R862) Det. San Marco showed him a photo pack, and he identified a photo of the short man. (R862-863) McGruder testified that the photo looked just like the short man, with no change in his appearance. However, he testified in a deposition that the short man had a short Afro haircut, while the man in the photo had pig tails instead. (R870-874,880-882) In the deposition he said the photo showed the tall, light man. (R875-876) McGruder admitted that the was not certain of his identification. (R880-883)

Detective San Marco identified the photo pack he showed to McGruder on April 8, 1983. (R812-814) McGruder identified a photo of Appellant. (R814-815)

Melvin Jones testified that he went out drinking on the night of March 20, 1983. On his way home, he was trying to avoid the police to avoid being arrested on outstanding warrants. (R973-976) He saw a cab which turned from 31st Street onto Fairfield and stopped. (R976-978) Two passengers and the driver exited the cab. Jones recognized the front seat passenger as New York; he was about six feet tall and had a light complexion. Jones recognized the second passenger as Rerun or Derrick Smith. New York said

something and started running. The driver also ran. Appellant ran after the driver. Jones heard a gunshot. Appellant ran past a church, then he ran past Jones with a gun in his hand. The gun was a .32 or .38 with a black barrel and a brown handle. (R978-987,993-997)

Jones went home at 12:43. A female police officer came to the house and spoke to his wife. When the officer left, Jones told his wife he had seen a cab driver get shot down the road. (R987-988)

In November, 1983, Jones encountered Appellant in the county jail. Appellant threatened to kill Jones and his family. Appellant said, "I don't even know you. I don't know why you're doing this here, you know." (R989)

Jones admitted that he had 24 prior felony convictions. (R990) Following his arrest on the outstanding warrants, Jones wrote letters to the State Attorney and the Public Defender telling them what he had seen. He claimed that he was not seeking any personal benefit for providing the information and denied having made any sentencing agreement with the State in exchange for his testimony. (R992-993) However, Jones was facing 17 or 18 pending felony charges at the time. (R997-998) The court sustained the prosecutor's objection when defense counsel asked whether Jones knew the total maximum penalty for all the charges. (R998) Jones testified that the "did" a total of three years on the charges. The court initially sustained the prosecutor's objection when defense counsel asked how much time Jones actually served. (R998)

During a bench conference, defense counsel explained that a reasonable inference could be drawn that Jones did get "a break" in exchange for his testimony. The prosecutor asserted, "And after the Smith trial he has got four and a half to five and a half, and he was sentenced to three plus two, one below the guidelines." The court then ruled that defense counsel could ask how much time he actually served. (R999)

Jones then admitted that the prosecutor testified on his behalf at sentencing because he had come forward with information about this case. When defense counsel asked if he got a break on his sentence as a result, Jones replied, "Well, from my side, I don't think so, but you can say so." (R1000)

The prosecutor objected again when defense counsel asked whether Jones testified for the State in another murder case. During the ensuing bench conference, defense counsel argued that Jones' appearance as a crucial state witness in another murder case a year later when he had more pending charges was relevant to the jury's determination of his credibility. (R1000-1001) The prosecutor responded, "Your Honor, he was sentenced after he testified in Smith and Clinton Jackson. So whatever deal he got was based on both." The court sustained the State's objection. (R1001) The court directed defense counsel to proffer further testimony that Jones "kept ducking subpoenas and dodging more warrants for his arrest" when the State attempted to procure his testimony for a retrial of the Jackson case after reversal on appeal. (R1001)

Defense counsel subsequently proffered Jones' testimony that he was a witness against Clinton Lamar Jackson and Nathaniel Jackson in another murder case. (R1053-1056) Jones said he could not remember whether he had pending charges or probation violations at the time he testified against Clinton Jackson in 1984. (R1056) In 1987 Jones knew that Jackson was going to be retried and spoke to an investigator for the State Attorney's Office by telephone. Jones told the investigator they would have to use his deposition. (R1057) Jones claimed he did not know whether he had pending charges or outstanding warrants at that time. (R1057-1058)

While testifying before the jury, Jones admitted that he attempted to have his attorney negotiate a deal with Det. San Marco in exchange for his information about this case. Because the only thing San Marco would offer was to serve his time in a prison for convicted police officers, Jones gave an altered version of what happened and refused to answer some of the detective's questions. (R1002-1005) Jones claimed that he eventually came forward with the truth because he heard rumors that Appellant was trying to cast all the blame on Derrick Johnson. (R1005-1009)

Jones' wife, Mellow Jones, testified that March 20, 1983, was her birthday. Jones came home late that night and told her he saw a man get shot. The police then came to her door and asked whether she had heard the noise. (R1013-1016)

Co-defendant Derrick Johnson testified that he was a disc jockey at the Name of the Game Lounge on March 20, 1983, when Appellant tried out as a disc jockey. (RIII3-III9) Around 9:30 or 10:00 p.m. Appellant asked Johnson to hand him his pistol from a shelf. The gun was a .38 caliber revolver with a six-inch barrel, black cylinder, and brown handle. Appellant put the gun in the waistband of his pants. (R1118-1121)

About half an hour later, Appellant and Johnson went to Norm's Bar. (R1121-1123) Johnson suggested robbing a marijuana dealer. (R1123,1179) Appellant loaded his gun and returned it to his waistband. (R1124) They walked to the Cozy Corner Bar. (R1124-1125) Appellant spoke to two women and told them he and Johnson were "seriously thinking about going to hustle up some money." (R1125)

They walked down the street. Appellant held the gun in his hand and said he felt like shooting it. (R1126) They talked about taking a cab and going to rob a motel. A cab driver refused to give them a ride. Johnson knocked on the door of the Yellow Cab Company but no one responded. (R1127)

They proceeded to Hogley Wogley Bar-B-Q. Johnson suggested robbing the restuarant, then they decided to rob a cab. (R1127-1128,1179) Appellant went inside to call a cab. He came back outside, and they planned the robbery. (R1128-1130) Johnson or Appellant went back inside Hogley Wogley to call the cab again. They waited outside. (R1131)

A Yellow Cab arrived. Johnson got in the front seat. Appellant got in the back seat. The driver, Songer, sent a coded message to his dispatcher, "D-16." (R1132-1133) Appellant told Songer to stop on 31st Street. (R1139-1140) Johnson got out on the

right side of the cab. Songer got out and opened the door for Appellant. Johnson walked around the cab and saw that Appellant was holding the gun. (R1140-1141,1181) Johnson asked what was up, and Appellant replied, "You know what's up." Songer asked if there was a problem and said he didn't want any trouble. (R1142)

Songer ran down the street. Johnson ran the opposite direction, stopped, and looked back to see Appellant running after Songer. (R1142~1143,1181~1182) Appellant stopped, raised the pistol, and fired one shot. (R1143-1144) Songer said, "Oh, shit," and screamed. (R1144) Johnson ran toward 31st Street. Appellant caught up with him. (R1145,1182-1183) He was trying to put the gun back in his pants. Appellant said something to the effect that "I told you I was going to shoot him, [or] I had to shoot him." (R1145)

Johnson returned to the Name of the Game Lounge until closing time. (R1145~1147) He got a ride home, then proceeded to another bar. He went home around 2:00. (R1147)

Johnson talked to his mother then next day. (R1153-1154) The defense waived cross-examination concerning Johnson's plea agreement to avoid admission of Johnson's prior consistent statements. (R1154-1173) Johnson admitted having one prior felony conviction. (R1174) In October, 1983, Johnson testified that he told the cab driver to take them to 3130 31st Street South. (R1176-1177) In March, 1983, Johnson made sworn statements to the police that he first met Appellant at the Hogley Wogley on the night of the offense. (R1177-1178) At a preliminary hearing on June 23, 1983,

Johnson testified that he never had the gun in his hand. (R1178) Johnson also denied telling Larry Martin that Appellant had nothing to do with the shooting. (R1184)

Before trial, defense counsel moved to exclude evidence that Appellant robbed a Canadian couple in their motel room about twelve hours after the homicide. Defense counsel argued that the evidence was irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. (R40-42,63,251-252,262-267) The prosecutor argued that the evidence was relevant to Appellant's motive and possession of a gun. (R252-262,267-269) The court denied the motion. (R64,292) Defense counsel renewed the motion at trial. (R389)

Over defense counsel's renewed objection and motion to exclude evidence of the robbery victim's injury, the court allowed the State to present the testimony of Marcel DeBulle. (RI191-1193) The court instructed the jury that his testimony would be considered only for the purpose of proving motive and possession of a firearm. (R1194) DeBulle testified that Appellant entered his motel room shortly after noon on March 21, 1983, and robbed DeBulle and his wife at gunpoint of their money, jewelry, and watches. (R1194-1203) Appellant slapped DeBulle in the face and punched him in the eye with his fist. (R1197) Appellant grabbed DeBulle's briefcase and looked inside. (R1198)

Also over defense counsel's renewed objection and upon instructing the jury on the limited purpose of the evidence, (R847-848) the court permitted crime scene technician Roy Kirby to testify that he obtained a latent fingerprint from DeBulle's

briefcase. (R849-854) Fingerprint examiner Frank Reinhart compared the print as well as the latent print found on the Hogley Wogley telephone to Appellant's known prints and found that both latent prints matched Appellant's left thumb. (R1209-1220)

FBI Agent Robert Sibert examined Songer's sweater and T-shirt and found bullet holes and traces of lead. (R924-930) He also found traces of lead around the pockets of Appellant's jeans, but he could not determine the source. (R935,940-942) Sibert examined the lead fragment found at the autopsy. It could have come from the bullet that passed through the body, but it had no remaining bullet characteristics. (R930-933)

FBI Agents Roger Asbery and Donald Havekost analyzed the lead fragment from the autopsy and lead from the bullets obtained from Roy Cone. Both agents determined that the composition of the lead in the fragment was the same as the lead in the bullets. (R1033-1050,1062-1086)

B. The Defense

Appellant was represented at his first trial by attorneys Richard Smith and Thomas Donnelly. (R5) They pursued an alibi defense. (R16-17) Upon this Court's remand for a new trial, the court again appointed Smith and Donnelly as counsel. (R28)

On July 26, 1987, Appellant wrote a letter to the court requesting the appointment of substitute counsel. (R50) Smith and Donnelly moved to withdraw as counsel based upon Appellant's request, irreconcilable differences, and an ethical conflict. (R51-

52) The court granted the motion and appointed attorney Richard Sanders to represent Appellant. (R54,56)

On October 25, 1989, Sanders moved to withdraw as counsel on the ground that Appellant "wants counsel to represent testimony that counsel believes to be perjurious." (R86) The court conducted a hearing on the motion on November 6, 1989. (R351) Sanders explained that Appellant wanted him to present alibi witnesses at trial, but Sanders believed that the witnesses were not telling the truth. (R535-356) The court denied the motion and directed Sanders to redetermine whether he could ethically call the witnesses at trial. (R95,358-359)

Appellant wrote a letter to the court on November 6, 1989, stating,

Richard Sanders told me my case was the first murder case he's handled, he's outclassed and it shows more and more as time passes. I don't want Richard Sanders representing me on this particular case and it's obvious that he and I have a conflict of interest. . . . I don't want to be like a lamb lead to slaughter and that's how I feel with Richard Sanders representing me. I feel that a trial with him representing me is a mere formality. I ask that you reconsider your decision to deny his motion to withdraw. (R92-93)

The court responded to Appellant's letter with a letter dated November 9, 1989, stating,

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