FILED SID J. WHITE

AUG 24 1992

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

DERRICK TYRONE SMITH,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 76,491

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

## BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Assistant Attorney General
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Westwood Center
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

This Court in Crawford continued by observing that:

. . . the prosecuting attorney should not be required to actively assist defendant's attorney in the investigation of the case. Discovery in criminal cases is tended to be heavily weighed in favor of the defendant, and it would be contrary to the general principle of advocacy, as well as fairness itself, to require the prosecuting attorney to perform any duties on behalf of the defendant in the preparation of the case. (257 So.2d at 900)

In conclusion, this Court held that disclosure may be required by the state of "any record of prior criminal convictions of defendant or of persons whom the prosecuting attorney intends to call as witnesses. State v. Crawford, 257 So.2d at 901. In State v. Coney, 294 So.2d 82, 87 (Fla. 1974), this Court explained Crawford thusly:

The requirement of *Crawford* as to the prosecuting attorney securing the information for defense counsel arises only upon a showing that defense counsel has first exerted his own efforts and resources and has

pursued and concluded other available means and remedies available to him to obtain such information.

See also, Yanetta, supra; Comer, supra.

Appellant's reliance upon Smith v. State, 500 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1986), is misplaced. Although this Court in Smith held that there is neither a "rebuttal" nor "impeachment" exception to the Richardson Rule, this notion was discussed in the context of state witnesses. Indeed, the citations in Smith pertain to cases dealing with state rebuttal witnesses or the impeachment of state As observed by this Court in Smith, it is the witnesses. defendant's ability to prepare for trial which must be considered as the predicate as to whether a discovery violation had even occurred. In the instant case, preparation of the defense did not depend upon disclosure of a defense witness' criminal record. It is the obligation of the defense to prepare its own witnesses and, in accordance with the authorities cited above, it is incumbent upon the defense to obtain those matters which are readily accessible to it. Certainly, the criminal record of one's own witness is something which could be obtained by due diligence by defense counsel.

More recently, this Court has had occasion to discuss the principles involved under this issue. In <u>Hansbrough v. State</u>, 509 So.2d 1081, 1084 (Fla. 1987), this Court succinctly summarized the applicable issues:

. . . While the state cannot withhold material evidence favorable to an accused, it is not the state's duty to actively assist

the defense in investigating the case. State v. Coney, 294 So.2d 82 (Fla. 1973). The defense has the initial burden of trying to discover impeachment evidence, and the state is not required to prepare the defense's case. Medina v. State, 466 So.2d 1046 (Fla. 1985). This is especially true when the evidence is as accessible to the defense as to the state. See James v. State, 453 So.2d 786 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1098, 105 S.Ct. 608, 83 L.Ed.2d 717 (1984).

Therefore, the trial court correctly ruled that there was not necessarily a discovery violation when the state did not disclose the past criminal record of a defense witness. It was incumbent upon defense counsel to prepare his own case and he would have had access to the criminal records on file in the clerk's office.

The trial judge alternatively ruled that even if there was a violation, no prejudice ensued to appellant. Indeed, defense counsel had on direct examination brought out the fact that the defense witness had been previously convicted of felonies and the state only clarified the number thereof. Appellant's contention that Larry Martin's credibility was diminished merely because of the number of previous felony convictions is wholly without merit. Larry Martin's credibility was placed in question by virtue of a rebuttal witness offered by the state (R 1270 - 1271).

Inasmuch as the trial court correctly ruled that no discovery violation occurred because the defense was able to have access to prior convictions of its own witness, no error appears.

## ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF A ROBBERY COMMITTED BY APPELLANT SOME TWELVE HOURS AFTER THE HOMICIDE WHICH WAS RELEVANT TO SHOW MOTIVE AND POSSESSION OF THE SAME WEAPON USED IN THE COMMISSION OF BOTH OFFENSES.

Over defense objections, the trial court permitted Marcelle Debulle to testify that he and his wife were robbed at gunpoint by appellant in their St. Petersburg motel room just twelve hours after appellant committed the homicide of the cab driver (R 1191 - 1203). The trial court denied appellant's motion in limine to exclude this evidence, apparently accepting the state's argument that the evidence was probative both of motive and possession of the same gun during both offenses (R 292). For the reasons expressed below, the trial court's ruling was correct and appellant's third point must fail.

Florida Statute 90.404(2)(a) provides:

Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

Admissibility of this type of evidence was further explained by this Court in Bryan v. State, 533 So.2d 744, 746 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1028, 109 S.Ct. 1765, 104 L.Ed.2d 200 (1989):

. . . Evidence of "other crimes" is not limited to other crimes with similar facts. So-called similar fact crimes are merely a

special application of the general rule that all relevant evidence is admissible unless specifically excluded by a rule of evidence. requirement that similar fact crimes contains similar facts to the charged crime the requirement to based on does not bar This relevancy. introduction of evidence of other crimes which are factually dissimilar to the charged crime if the evidence of other crimes is The only limitation to the relevant. . . . rule of relevancy are that the state should not be permitted to make the evidence of other crimes the feature of the trial or to introduce the evidence solely for the purpose of showing bad character or propensity, in which event it would not be relevant, and such evidence, even if relevant, should not probative value is admitted if its substantially outweighed by undue prejudice. Our later case law reiterates the controlling importance of relevancy.

This Court in <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 270, 275 (Fla. 1988), <u>cert. denied</u>, 489 U.S. 1100 (1989), observed that, "[s]ince <u>Williams</u> we have acknowledged many times its basic teaching that evidence showing collateral crimes or wrongful acts is admissible if it is relevant for any purpose other than to show the bad character or criminal propensity of the accused" (citations omitted). As will be discussed below, an examination of the evidence now complained-of by appellant reveals that such evidence was relevant for purposes other than to show bad character or criminal propensity.

Initially, your appellee submits that appellant's contention that there must be significant similarities between the offenses so as to permit the introduction of the Debulle robbery is wholly without merit. Similarities between the acts must be so unique

or unusual when similar fact evidence is introduced to prove identity, plan or pattern. Read's Florida Evidence Volume I, p. 268d. As will be discussed below, the state was not attempting to prove identity, plan, or pattern. Rather, the evidence complained-of by appellant was highly relevant with respect to proving appellant's motive to obtain money one way or the other and to show that appellant possessed the same gun during the commission of both offenses. Thus, the state was not introducing evidence of other crimes wherein uniqueness may have been an issue, but rather the state was introducing direct evidence tending to prove material facts in issue.

In addition, it is not error to admit evidence which establishes the entire context in which an offense was committed. Ruffin v. State, 397 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1981); Malloy v. State, 382 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1979); Smith v. State, 365 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1978); Ashley v. State, 265 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1972). Relevant evidence is admissible even though it may point to a separate crime, McCrae v. State, 395 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1980), or be prejudicial. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981).

The facts of the instant case support the application of the above-discussed principles. The Debulle robbery was part of an ongoing criminal episode which commenced with the events and plans leading up to the attempted robbery and murder of Jeffrey Songer and culminated when appellant finally completed a successful robbery. The evidence adduced at trial indicated that appellant stated that he was going to "hustle some money" (R 921,

1028, 1125). The evidence of the Debulle robbery was certainly relevant to show appellant's motive in obtaining money.

Debulle also described the gun that appellant was Mr. carrying during the robbery (R 1195). His description matched the description of a gun which was traced from appellant's uncle (R 891 - 894, 1228 - 1232), to appellant. The blue or blue-black barreled gun with a brown handle owned by Mr. Cone was in the possession of appellant when he tried to sell it (R 913 - 914), and when appellant had it the evening prior to the Songer homicide and the Debulle robbery (R 897, 899, 978 - 987, 993 -997, 1018, 1027, 1118 - 1121, 1124, 1126, 1140 - 1141, 1143 -1145, 1181). Thus, where the evidence showed that the gun used by appellant in the Debulle robbery was similar to the one which was used to kill Jeffrey Songer, the state was entitled to introduce this relevant evidence. The instant case should be contrasted with State v. Lee, 531 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1988), a case cited by appellant, wherein this Court determined that because the defendant therein had used a gun during a bank robbery did not establish that he used a gun during the charged offenses In the instant case, however, the testimony indicated that a weapon was used in both offenses, indeed, the gun was used to pistol-whip Mr. Debulle during that robbery. Thus, the evidence admitted correctly by the trial judge was relevant to show the entire context of appellant's plan to rob and his use of the same weapon during both offenses.

Finally, as in Ruffin, supra, it cannot be said that the Debulle testimony became a feature rather than an incident of appellant's trial. Having demonstrated that the challenged evidence was clearly relevant for several reasons it is submitted that the trial court did not err in denying the motion in limine and allowing Debulle to testify at trial. The state did not introduce the Debulle robbery merely to show appellant's propensity to commit an armed robbery, but rather, the evidence was introduced to show that appellant intended to commit a robbery and, during a relatively short time span, managed to accomplish his task. Even if it was error to admit this testimony of the Debulle robbery, a proposition with which your appellee strongly disagrees, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The state's evidence at trial showed, beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant was the only person to shoot at Jeffrey Songer. Appellant's third point must fail.

#### ISSUE IV

WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO CONFRONT AND CROSS EXAMINE A STATE WITNESS WAS VIOLATED.

As his fourth point on appeal, appellant contends that the trial court allowed the state to conceal the terms of prior sentencing agreements with the state and Melvin Jones, a state witness in the instant trial. This contention is wholly without merit and, for the reasons expressed below, appellant's fourth point must fail.

The gist of appellant's complaint revolves around the incorrect notion that defense counsel was unable to adequately cross examine Melvin Jones concerning the "deal" he had with the state vis-a-vis his testimony in the instant case. Appellant's claim asserted on direct appeal is one more appropriate for a motion to vacate pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, the appropriate vehicle if appellant believes that there is an undisclosed deal. The record of the instant case, however, reveals exactly what Melvin Jones obtained from the state:

### BY MR. SANDERS:

- Q. Now, Mr. Jones, when up for sentencing on all these charges, the state attorney came and testified on your behalf based on the fact that you had come forward with this information, is that correct?
  - A. Yes, it is.
- Q. And you did, in fact, get a break on your sentence as a result of the state attorney's actions, is that correct?

A. Well, from my side, I don't think so, but you can say so. (R 1000)

Thus, the record reveals that the only "deal" which Mr. Jones obtained that the state attorney was to speak in his behalf at his sentencing subsequent to the testimony rendered in the first Derrick Tyrone Smith case. Indeed, the record reflects that no "deal" was given to Melvin Jones for his testimony at the trial which is the subject of the instant appeal, and he would not appear without benefit of a subpoena (R 1060).

In the instant case, the record reveals the "deal" and there is simply no evidence to show that any other "deal" existed. Appellant on appeal is merely speculating that there must have been some other "deal" which simply has not been revealed. Yet, the record reflects no attempt to obtain disclosure of that deal because, indeed, defense counsel was well aware of the facts surrounding the testimony of Melvin Jones. The record also reveals that although the state attorney spoke in his behalf, Melvin Jones did not believe that he got a deal. Thus, from the witness' perspective, he was undoubtedly disappointed at the result of his sentencing, but this in no way indicates that any further consideration was given to Mr. Jones in exchange for his testimony.

The record reveals that Melvin Jones was most adequately cross examined by defense counsel as to any bias or prejudice existing (R 991 - 993; 997 - 1000; 1002 - 1006). There is simply no evidence in this record which would support a claim under

Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 79 S.Ct. 1173, 3 L.Ed.2d 1217 (1959). The record reveals the "deal" (the state attorney was to speak on behalf of Melvin Jones at his sentencing) and any further supposition about a more inclusive deal is pure speculation and is appropriately the subject of a 3.850 motion.

Nor is the fact that the trial judge prevented cross examination concerning Melvin Jones' testimony in the Clinton Lamar Jackson case cause for reversal of the instant conviction. Defense counsel was attempting to engage in а expedition" merely because Melvin Jones happened testimony in another capital case. During the proffered examination, defense counsel questioned Mr. Jones on facts of which defense counsel was certainly aware (Mr. Sanders did the appeal for Clinton Jackson; R 1059) and Melvin Jones was an eye witness in that case. As the prosecutor noted in the instant case, Melvin Jones was sentenced after his testimony in both the first Smith and the Clarence Jackson trial and the state attorney did, in fact, appear on behalf of Mr. Jones. This is the only "deal" which was made and it was presented for the consideration with respect to the credibility of Melvin Jones. Appellate reversal cannot be predicated upon speculation of a more inclusive deal where there is no evidence to indicate that one ever existed. Cf. Sullivan v. State, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974).

Your appellee respectfully submits that the facts as adduced at trial do not support appellant's claim. The "deal" received

by Melvin Jones was heard by the jury and they were able to adequately evaluate the credibility of the witness. Even if error were made to appear, such error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant's contention that harmless error cannot be shown because defense counsel was not permitted to "fully develop" his attack upon Jones' credibility is totally belied by the record. Extensive cross examination revealed that Melvin Jones had contact with law enforcement and the state attorney's office prior to his presentation of his testimony at the first Smith trial (R 991 - 993; 997 - 1000; 1002 - 1006). Thus, the jury was adequately able to assess the credibility of Melvin Jones and any purported error in the restriction of Melvin Jones' testimony is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### ISSUE V

WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCE IMPOSED IN THE INSTANT CASE WAS PROPORTIONALLY WARRANTED.

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